1979

# State of Utah v. Jacob J. Lamorie : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a conviction for violation of Section 76-10-503(2) Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended, possession of a dangerous weapon while on parole for a felony.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Appellant was tried by jury in the Seventh Judicial District Court in and for Grand County, the Honorable Boyd Bunnell presiding, and found guilty of possession of a dangerous weapon while on parole for a felony. He was sentenced to serve 1 to 15 years in the Utah State Prison, the penalty imposed by Section 76-3-203(2) Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended, for a second degree felony.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Pursuant to Point I and Point II herein, appellant prays the judgment of the lower court be reversed for insufficient evidence and that he be acquitted of the charge and discharged from prison. Alternatively, pursuant to Point III herein, appellant prays that the judgment of the lower court be reversed for insufficient evidence and that the case be remanded for judgment and sentencing for a third degree felony.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the afternoon of October 14, 1978, Jesse Powell, a trooper for the Utah Highway Patrol, was driving west on the highway between



Crescent Junction and Green River, in Grand County, Utah. He was off duty at the time and was returning to Green River with some boy scouts from a scout camp. Approximately 10 miles east of Green River, Trooper Powell saw a van that had apparently run off the road and rolled over. He stopped the truck he was driving, directed the boy scouts to bring his first aid kit and approached the van to see if he could assist the van's occupants. At the time he observed the appellant who was still in the vehicle and he also observed another man, Dale Lowery, who was outside of the vehicle (T. 17, 51, 52, 53).

Trooper Powell first talked with Lowery, who he learned had been the driver of the vehicle (T.12, 52). Trooper Powell and Lowery then went around the van to talk to the appellant (T. 18). Trooper Powell noted that the appellant appeared to be injured and offered to assist. However, the appellant told Trooper Powell that he did not want any first aid and told him to get out and leave him alone (T. 18). Trooper Powell thereupon advised the appellant that he was an off duty highway patrol officer and he and Lowery thereafter persuaded the appellant to leave the van and to allow Trooper Powell to administer minor first aid. Following this, the appellant again requested that Trooper Powell leave (T.17, 18).

Charles Durrant, one of the boy scouts who had been directed by Trooper Powell to bring the first aid kit, testified that he observed the appellant, after Trooper Powell had finished talking with him, go around to the other side of the van and pick up what appeared to him to be a short shotgun which was broken open but

in one piece (T. 35, 36), although he also stated that he could have been mistaken about what the appellant was holding (T. 46). Durrant was, at that time, told by the appellant to ". . . get out of here. I don't need your help" and thereupon Durrant returned to Trooper Powell's truck (T. 37).

At some point another car drove up and when its occupants offered to take the appellant to receive medical assistance, the appellant got into the car. However, Trooper Powell told the car's occupants that the appellant appeared to be under the influence of alcohol, advised them that they should not take the appellant and removed the appellant from the car (T. 18).

After this, Trooper Powell returned to his truck to check on the boy scouts (T. 19). He was subsequently joined there by Lowery. While by his truck Trooper Powell observed the appellant running along behind a ridge of dirt next to the road in a "crunched position" into a wash. Lowery, thereafter, joined the appellant in the wash. At approximately that point Trooper David Bailey of the Utah Highway Patrol arrived (T. 19, 20). Trooper Powell advised Trooper Bailey that two suspects were down in the wash and that Trooper Powell thought one of them had a weapon. Together they then approached the appellant and Lowery who had been sitting in the wash. The appellant and Lowery, in turn, stood up and approached the troopers. The appellant had a metal scabbard in his hand (T. 52). Trooper Bailey testified that the appellant was foul, abusive and uncooperative but that the appellant did not fight with or threaten

him (T. 53, 56). Trooper Bailey was of the opinion that both Lowery and the appellant were under the influence of alcohol and Lowery, after admitting having been the driver of the van, was arrested for driving under the influence of alcohol. The appellant was placed under arrest for public intoxication and both the appellant and Lowery were taken to Trooper Bailey's vehicle and transported by Trooper Bailey to Green River, Utah (T. 52, 53).

After the appellant and Lowery were arrested, Trooper Powell and the two boy scouts searched the wash for a sword that might go with the scabbard and for the gun. One of the scouts found the sword. They continued the search and the stock portion of a shotgun was found in the wash. Thereafter, the action portion of a shotgun was also found in the wash and a shotgun shell was found laying nearby (T. 22).

Subsequently, Lowery and the appellant were transported to Moab, Utah. Lowery and the appellant both denied owning the shotgun, although Lowery admitted owning the van, the sword and metal scabbard and other items in the van (T. 55, 56, 59, 60). Lowery was later released from jail after paying a fine (T. 69). The appellant was charged with possession of a dangerous weapon while on parole for a felony. Appellant was tried and convicted by a jury and afterwards sentenced by the Seventh Judicial District Court, Grand County, to serve 1 to 15 years at the Utah State Prison.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR  
BY IMPROPERLY ADMITTING INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY  
EVIDENCE OFFERED BY THE STATE TO PROVE THAT  
THE APPELLANT WAS ON PAROLE AND HAD BEEN  
CONVICTED OF A FELONY.

The appellant was charged, and tried and convicted by jury under Section 76-10-503(2) of the Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended, which reads as follows:

"(2) Any person who is on parole for a felony or is incarcerated at the Utah state prison shall not have in his possession or under his custody or control any dangerous weapon as defined in this part. Any person who violates this section is guilty of a felony of the third degree, and if the dangerous weapon is a firearm, explosive or infernal machine, he shall be guilty of a felony of the second degree."

The State, in the case at hand, did not attempt to prove that the appellant was incarcerated at the Utah state prison but did attempt to prove that the appellant was on parole for a felony while possessing or controlling a dangerous weapon. Therefore, before the appellant could be found guilty of a second degree felony under Section 76-10-503(2) the State was required to prove: (1) that the appellant was on parole (2) for a felony (3) had in his possession or under his control (4) a dangerous weapon (5) which was a firearm, explosive or infernal machine. Before a defendant can be convicted of the crime alleged the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt each element of the crime. (See Section 76-1-501(1) of Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended). The State in the appellant's case failed to prove by admissible evidence that the appellant was

on parole for a felony.

The State called Joseph L. Waters, a parole agent for the State of Colorado Division of Parole as its first witness. The State attempted to use Mr. Waters in two different ways to prove that the appellant was on parole and had been convicted of a felony. First, the State attempted to elicit by direct testimony from Mr. Waters proof that the appellant was on parole for a felony on the date he was arrested (T. 4, 5, 8). Second, the State attempted to use Mr. Waters to identify and authenticate State's EXHIBIT "1" which the State intended to offer to prove that the appellant was on parole for a felony. (The complete transcript of Mr. Waters' testimony and copies of the documents of which State's EXHIBIT "1" consists are included in the appendix to this brief.) The appellant repeatedly objected to both attempts by the State to prove that he was on parole for a felony (T. 4,5,6,7,8,14,16), but his objections were overruled by the Court (T. 5,8,14,15). In overruling the appellant's objections the Court erred.

First, the Court erred in allowing Mr. Waters to personally testify over the appellant's objection that the appellant was on parole for a felony when arrested (T. 5,15), since Mr. Waters admitted that he had no personal knowledge that the appellant had ever been convicted of any crime and since Mr. Waters admitted that his knowledge regarding the appellant's parole status was based on hearsay. Mr. Waters testified as follows on voir dire:

"BY MR. MORTENSEN:

Q Mr. Waters, were you personally in court the day

at any time when you saw the defendant convicted of any crime?

A No, sir.

Q The only way or method that you've come across the knowledge you have in this case that he should be on parole is because of documentation that has been forwarded to you and things told to you by certain people; is that correct?

A Yes. And by the authority vested in me by the State of Colorado in receiving certain information given to me." (T. 9).

Rule 63 of the Utah Rules of Evidence provides that evidence of a statement which is made other than by a witness while testifying at the hearing offered to prove the truth of the matter stated is hearsay evidence and inadmissible unless an exception is available. Mr. Waters' testimony was clearly hearsay under Rule 63 and was clearly without an exception under any of the subsections under Rule 63. Therefore, the Court erred in admitting such testimony.

Second, the Court erred in admitting, over appellant's objections, State's EXHIBIT "1" into evidence, and in thus allowing the jury to conclude from State's EXHIBIT "1" that the appellant was on parole for a felony when arrested. State's EXHIBIT "1" consisted of four documents. Two of the documents were entitled "Parole Agreement" and each contained as a signature the name of the appellant. Neither of the parole agreements made any reference to whether or not the appellant had ever been convicted of a felony. The remaining two documents of which the State's

EXHIBIT "1" consisted were: (1) a document entitled "Judgment of Conviction Sentence and Mittimus", dated the 17th day of June, 1974, and (2) a document entitled "District Court -- Mittimus to State Reformatory", dated June 9, 1972. The Judgment of Conviction Sentence and Mittimus and the District Court -- Mittimus to State Reformatory each stated that a person named Jacob Joe Lamorie had been adjudged guilty of committing a burglary and each contained the signature of a person purporting to be a deputy clerk of the Second Judicial District Court of the State of Colorado.

There can be no question that State's EXHIBIT "1" was hearsay evidence under Rule 63. In admitting State's EXHIBIT "1" the Court apparently relied upon subsections 13 and 17 of Rule 63 which are the Business Entries and Content of Official Records exceptions respectively (T. 14). Subsection 13 of Rule 63 reads as follows:

"(13) Business Entries and the Like. Writings offered as memoranda or records of acts, conditions or events to prove the facts stated therein, if the judge finds that they were made in the regular course of a business at or about the time of the act, condition or event recorded, and that the sources of information from which made and the method and circumstances of their preparation were such as to indicate their trustworthiness;"

Clearly, exception 13 does not apply to the situation at hand inasmuch as the record is wholly void of any proof that the Judgment of Conviction Sentence and Mittimus or the District Court -- Mittimus to State Reformatory were memoranda or records of acts, conditions or events that had been made by employees of the Colorado Division of Parole at or about the time of the event recorded. Each of the

two documents just mentioned, on its face, purported to be a document prepared by a deputy clerk of the Second Judicial District Court of Colorado. Neither purported on its face to have been prepared by an officer or employee of the Colorado Division of Parole. Mr. Waters never stated that either document had been made by the Colorado Division of Parole.

Exception 17 reads as follows:

"(17) Content of Official Record. Subject to Rule 64 (a) if meeting the requirements of authentication under Rule 68, to prove the content of the record, a writing purporting to be a copy of an official record or of an entry therein, . . ."

Rule 68, in turn, states:

"(1) Authentication of Copy. An official record of an entry therein, when admissible for any purpose, may be evidenced by an official publication thereof or by a copy attested by the officer having the legal custody of the record, or by his deputy, and in the absence of judicial knowledge or competent evidence, accompanied with a certificate that such officer has the custody. If the office in which the record is kept is within the United States or within a territory or insular possession subject to the dominion of the United States, the certificate may be made by a judge of a court of record of the district or political subdivision in which the record is kept, authenticated by the seal of his office. . ."

Rule 68 imposes two requirements for authentication of copies of official records: (1) The copy must be attested as an accurate copy of the original. (2) The person so attesting must be the officer having the legal custody or his deputy. Neither requirement of Rule 68 was met by the State in this action.

Regarding the attestation requirement of Rule 68, Mr. Waters expressly admitted on voir dire that he did not know whether or not



the copies of the Judgment of Conviction Sentence and Mittimus and the District Court -- Mittimus to State Reformatory before the Court were true and accurate copies of the originals:

"Q What we have here certified is a copy of a copy; is it not?

A No. I would say it's a copy of an original. I wouldn't know. I mean, that's my understanding: It's a copy of the original. I didn't go to the court and look it up." (T. 13, 14).

Without any proof from Mr. Waters as to the accuracy of the copies, the only other avenue available to the State to prove that the copies were true and accurate was to rely on the certificate which appeared on each of the copies and read as follows:

"City and County of Denver, Colorado

CERTIFIED TO BE FULL, TRUE AND CORRECT COPY AS IT APPEARS IN THE RECORD KEPT BY THE OFFICE OF THE ADULT PAROLE & COMMUNITY SERVICES

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 20th day of October, 1978.

/s/ SHIRLEY TRAVER  
Notary Public

(SEAL)

My Commission Expires Nov. 25, 1978"

The certificate was stamped on the back of each of the copies and although it bore the signature of a notary public it was not signed by a person having the official custody of the records or his deputy. This being the case, the certificate was not sufficient to meet the attestation requirement of Rule 68. And, even assuming

Mr. Waters admitted that he was not a clerk of the court and that he had nothing to do with court records (T. 9). Therefore, since the requirements of Rule 68 were not met, State's EXHIBIT "1" was not admissible under subsection 17 of Rule 63.

Finally, it must also be noted that subsection (20) to Rule 63 does not apply to the situation at hand. Subsection (20) reads:

"Judgment of a previous conviction, evidence of a final judgment adjudging a person guilty of a felony, to prove any fact essential to sustain the judgment. . ."

This exception does not apply because the State's attempted use of evidence of a final judgment adjudging the appellant guilty of a felony in this case was not "to prove any fact essential to sustain the judgment". The State was attempting to prove the fact of a judgment of guilt of the commission of a felony itself, not facts essential to prove that judgment. And, even if this exception were applicable, proper identification and authentication is a prerequisite to admissibility of the evidence of a conviction where the judgment of conviction occurred in a different court. See 30 Am Jur 2d, Evidence Section 988. As already shown above, the documents of which State's EXHIBIT "1" consisted were never properly authenticated. Since no exception to Rule 63 applied, the Court committed reversible error in admitting State's EXHIBIT "1".

## POINT II

THE APPELLANT COULD NOT BE CONVICTED OF THE CRIME ALLEGED SINCE THE STATE DID NOT PROVE THAT THE SHOTGUN WAS A DANGEROUS WEAPON.

At no time during the course of the trial did the State offer or introduce any evidence to prove that the shotgun (State's EXHIBIT "2") was capable of firing. Although Charles Durrant testified that he saw the appellant holding what he thought was a gun that had been broken open (T. 35, 36), Durrant admitted that the appellant never threatened him with the shotgun (T. 38, 46). No other witness called by the State testified that the appellant had threatened anyone with a shotgun. In fact, none of the other witnesses could testify that they had seen the appellant with the shotgun in his possession. Section 76-10-501(1) of the Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended, defines "dangerous weapon":

"Dangerous weapon" means any item that in the manner of its use or intended use is capable of causing death or serious bodily injury. In construing whether an item, object, or thing not commonly known as a dangerous weapon is a dangerous weapon, the character of the instrument, object, or thing; the character of the wound produced, if any; and the manner in which the instrument, object, or thing was used shall be determinative."

The record shows conclusively that the appellant never used any item in a manner such that its intended use would have been capable of causing death or serious bodily injury. Therefore, unless the shotgun itself constituted a dangerous weapon, the appellant could not have ever possessed a dangerous weapon. The Court, apparently consistent with the majority holding in State v. Nielsen 544 P2d 489 (Utah, 1975), instructed the jury that a sawed off shotgun was a

dangerous weapon even though no evidence was ever introduced to prove that the shotgun was capable of firing. The Court's INSTRUCTION NO. 4 read as follows:

"You are instructed that a "Dangerous Weapon" is any item that in the manner of its use or intended use is capable of causing death or serious injury.

In this case, I instruct you that a sawed off shot gun is a 'Dangerous' weapon."

The appellant, while recognizing the holding in State v. Nielsen, nevertheless, respectfully urges the court to reconsider its decision and to adopt as its holding in this case the dissenting opinion of Justice Maughn that a gun is not a dangerous weapon until it is proven to be capable of firing or until it is proven that its manner of use or intended use was that of a club or bludgeon. Since there was no proof that the shotgun was capable of firing or that its manner of use or intended use was that of a club or bludgeon, the appellant should not have been convicted of possessing a dangerous weapon.

### POINT III

THE APPELLANT SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN SENTENCED FOR HAVING COMMITTED A SECOND DEGREE FELONY, SINCE THE JURY WAS NEVER INSTRUCTED THAT IT MUST FIND THAT THE DANGEROUS WEAPON MUST BE A FIREARM, EXPLOSIVE OR INFERNAL MACHINE.

The appellant was convicted by a jury of possession of a dangerous<sup>05</sup> weapon while on parole for a felony. The Court, thereafter, in pronouncing judgment, sentenced the appellant to be incarcerated in the Utah state prison for a term of 1 to 15 years, the penalty

for a second degree felony under Section 76-3-203(2) of Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended. Section 76-10-503(2) requires the State to prove that the dangerous weapon possessed is a firearm, explosive or infernal machine before a defendant may be convicted of a second degree felony. However, before retiring to deliberate, the jury was instructed by the Court as follows:

"Instruction No. 3

Before you can convict the defendant of Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by one on Parole, you must find beyond a reasonable doubt all of the following elements:

1. That on or about the 14th day of October, 1978, the defendant had in his possession or under his custody or control a dangerous weapon.

2. That at the time the defendant was on parole for a felony.

If you believe that the evidence establishes each each of these essential elements of the offense of Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by one on Parole, it is your duty to convict the defendant of Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by one on Parole.

If the evidence has failed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt one or more of said elements, then you should find the defendant not guilty of the crime of Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by one on Parole."

It will be noted that Instruction No. 3 did not require the jury to separately find that the appellant possessed a firearm, explosive or infernal machine. Since the jury was never instructed that it must find that the appellant possessed a firearm, explosive or infernal machine, the appellant could not be convicted of a second degree felony but at most could be convicted only of a third degree felony. While the Court did instruct the jury that a

sawed-off shotgun is a dangerous weapon, it never instructed the jury that the appellant in fact possessed a sawed-off shotgun. Indeed, the Court could not so instruct the jury because to do so would have violated the appellant's right to trial by jury under the Utah State Constitution since such right may not be invaded by the presiding judge indicating to the jury that any such fact had been established by the evidence. State v. Estrada 119 Utah 339, 227 P2d 247, 248 (Utah, 1951).

When the jury failed to expressly find that the appellant possessed a firearm, explosive or infernal machine the Court could not, without invading the province of the jury and therefore violating the appellant's right to a trial by jury, find the appellant guilty of a second degree felony and sentence him for a term of 1 to 15 years under Section 76-3-203(2).

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