1979

State of Utah v. Jacob J. Lamorie : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

A.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY ADMITTING THE EVIDENCE OFFERED BY THE STATE TO PROVE THAT THE APPELLANT WAS ON PAROLE AFTER BEING CONVICTED OF A FELONY.

The appellant contends that the testimony of Mr. Waters, a Colorado parole agent, and State's Exhibit 1, the appellant's parole agreements and Judgement of Conviction Sentence and Mittimus, were improperly admitted into evidence at trial because of Rule 63 of the Utah Rules of Evidence, "Hearsay Evidence Excluded, - Exceptions." The appellant attempts to interpret the possible exceptions to the hearsay rule to make them inapplicable to the present case. Subsection 13 of Rule 63 reads as follows:

(13). Business Entries and the Like. Writings offered as memoranda or records of acts, conditions or events to prove the facts stated therein, if the judge finds that they were made in the regular course of a business at or about the time of the act, condition or event recorded, and that the sources of information from which made and the method and circumstances of their preparation were such as to indicate their trustworthiness;

The appellant contends that this exception does not permit State's Exhibit 1 to be entered as evidence because it was prepared by a deputy clerk of the Second Judicial Court of Colorado, and not by an employee of the Colorado Division

of Parole (see appellant's brief page 8-9). Such an interpretation is too narrow because it ignores the spirit of the hearsay exceptions and the case law regarding the admissibility of hearsay evidence. The correct intent of subsection 13 of Rule 63 is to allow the trial judge to admit the record if he is satisfied that the preparation and keeping of the records is, "such as to indicate their trustworthiness." In the present case, this criteria was met and the judge determined that the evidence was trustworthy. All four documents contained in state's exhibit 1 were properly notarized as true and correct copies (T. 8-15). Furthermore, the trial judge questioned Mr. Waters as follows:

THE COURT: Mr. Waters, these documents are kept--of which these are certified copies, are kept in the usual course of your duties? They're within your office; are they?

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir. They're kept under lock and key.

THE COURT: These are actual copies of the documents that you have there and that you use in the course of your supervision of the various people that come under your control; is that correct?

THE WITNESS. Yes. That's correct.

MR. BENCE: I'll renew my request, you Honor. May Exhibit 1 be received?

THE COURT: Yes. Exhibit 1 will be received in evidence.

MR. MORTENSEN: I have to object to that strenuously, your Honor.

THE COURT: You have objected. I'm overruling it. It clearly comes under an exception to the Hearsay Rule that it's kept in the usual course of business and under supervision. The testimony was it was under his supervision and control and had been for a number of years and the Court has the right to let him know why he had it under his supervision, and that these are the documents out of his file and that justifies that situation.

(T. 14).

The trial judge was satisfied that the records in State's Exhibit 1 were genuine records kept in the regular course of business and that they were trustworthy and thus he properly received them into evidence.

Case law substantiates the proposition that the criteria of trustworthiness is at the heart of the hearsay exceptions. The Utah Supreme Court in State v. Sibert, 310 P.2d 388, 6 Utah 2d 198 (Utah, 1957), said in reference to hearsay, "Such testimony is not admissible on the grounds that it lacks trustworthiness." (310 P.2d at 390). In United States v. Holland, 378 F. Supp 144 (1974), the Court said, "We believe that the focus of the hearsay rule and its exceptions is the trustworthiness, the reliability of the out of court declaration." (378 F. Supp. at 158). See also: Oltman v. Miller, 407 F.2d 376 (7th Circuit, 1969); Pope v. United States, 296 F. Supp. 17 (D.C. Cal. 1968); Sabation v. Curtiss National Bank of Miami Springs, 415 F.2d 632 (C.A. Fla.

1969).

Respondent submits that because the emphasis of the hearsay exceptions goes to the reliability of the testimony or record, the appellant's overly narrow construction of subsection 13 of Rule 65 has no merit. The trial judge determined that Mr. Waters' testimony and State's Exhibit 1 were reliable, and he therefore acted properly in allowing this evidence to come into court.

B.

THE TRIAL COURT IS ACCORDED A LARGE MEASURE OF DISCRETION IN DETERMINING MATTERS OF EVIDENCE AND SHOULD ONLY BE REVERSED IF THIS DISCRETION IS ABUSED.

It is a well-established rule that the trial court has wide discretion in allowing evidence to be received into court and unless there is a clear abuse of discretion, the appellate court will not overrule the trial court's decision. In reference to alleged hearsay records of evidence, the Washington Supreme Court said, "In this State, the ruling of the trial judge in admitting or excluding such records is given much weight and will not be reversed unless there has been a manifest abuse of discretion. Cantrill v. American Mail Line, 257 P.2d 179, 42 Wash. 2d 590 (Wash. 1953)." This rule is followed in most all appellate courts. See: Short v. Dawns, 537 P.2d 754, 36 Colo. App. 109 (Colo. 1975); State v. Cooper, 504 P.2d 978, 161 Mont. 85, (Mont. 1972); Butler v. Wong, 573 P.2d 86, 117 Ariz. 395 (Ariz. 1977).

The Utah Supreme Court has held that it will not overrule the trial court unless there is a clear abuse of discretion in cases involving: evidence in general, State v. Romero, 554 P.2d 216 (Utah, 1976), evidence of an expert witness, Lamb v. Bangert, 525 P.2d 602 (Utah, 1974), the materiality of evidence, Martin v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 565 P.2d 1139 (Utah, 1977), and many others. See West's Pacific Digest 3, Appeal and Error XIV(f).

The rule that the appellate court will not overrule the judgment of the trial court absent abuse of discretion applies to the present case. As mentioned, the trial judge examined the witness himself to determine the reliability of the evidentiary records, State's Exhibit 1. The judge was satisfied that they were reliable and there is no indication of any abuse of discretion. The respondent urges this Court to uphold the decision of the trial court.

POINT II.

A.

THE STATE WAS NOT REQUIRED TO PROVE
THAT THE SHOTGUN WAS OPERABLE IN
ORDER FOR IT TO BE A DANGEROUS
WEAPON.

The appellant was convicted of possession a dangerous weapon while on parole for a felony under § 76-10-503¹ Utah Code Ann., (1953), as amended. However, the state never proved that the sawed-off shotgun in the appellant's possession was capable of operation. The appellant contends

that absent this proof, he was not in possession of a dangerous weapon and therefore should not have been convicted. The Utah Supreme Court in State v. Nielson, 554 P.2d 489 (Utah, 1975), held that a gun was a dangerous weapon whether it was loaded or unloaded. The respondent argues that for there to be any merit to the appellant's argument on this point, the court would apparently need to reverse its decision in Nielson and hold that for a gun to be a dangerous weapon it would need to be loaded and otherwise capable of operation. The appellant is seeking a reversal of Nielson. (Appellant's brief, page 15).

The respondent urges this Court to uphold its decision in Nielson and rule that the sawed-off shotgun in the appellant's possession was a dangerous weapon, whether the state proved it was capable of operation or not. It is the position of the majority of jurisdictions that have addressed the issue that a firearm is a dangerous weapon whether loaded or unloaded. See Reed v. State, 199 So.2d 803 (Miss. 1967); People v. Law, 39 A.D. 2d 904, 334 N.Y.S. 2d 398 (1972); State v. Dorsey, 491 S.W. 2d 301 (Mo. 1973); United States v. Ware, 315 F. Supp. 1333 (1970). The law stating that a gun is a dangerous weapon whether loaded or not is based on sound reasoning. In State v. Quail, 5 Boyce 310, 92 A. 859 (Del. 1914), the Court said:

We think it quite immaterial whether the revolver be loaded or not, because such an instrument is commonly regarded as a deadly weapon without regard to its condition. If the absence of bullets would make the weapon a harmless one, then any condition that would prevent its being used at the time injuriously, would have a like effect. For example, the main spring might be out of order, and according to the defendant's contention this would make the instrument not deadly within the meaning of the statute.

If we should sustain the contention of the defendant we fear that many persons would carry a pistol unloaded but at the same time have bullets secreted upon their person to be used if desired.

As we have said the law was intended to discourage and prevent so far as possible, the carrying of weapons that are commonly and rightfully regarded as deadly. We think that a revolver, even though unloaded or in such a defective condition that it could not be fired, cannot be lawfully carried in this state concealed upon the person. The motion of the defendant is refused.

In relationship to § 76-10-503(2), Utah Code Ann., (1953), as amended, "Possession of a dangerous weapon while on parole for a felony," whether a sawed-off shotgun is capable of operation is not the main concern. The real issue is that a person possessing a sawed-off shotgun, operable or not, has power over others through the threat of death of serious bodily injury. This Court said in Nielson, "We believe

the statute's purpose was to deter those convicted of violent crimes from thereafter having guns, loaded or not."

In People v. Halley, 268 N.E. 2d 449, the Illinois appellate court said:

We think it clear, however, that it was not a necessary part of the state's case to prove that the pistols were loaded with bullets, contained a firing pin, had open barrels or were otherwise in an operable condition. It is established that it is unnecessary to prove that a gun is a deadly weapon. People v. Merritt, 367 Ill., 521, 12 N.E.2d 7; People v. Dwyer, 324 Ill. 363, 155 N.E. 216.

The ruling in Halley applies directly to this case. The trial court did not need to prove that the shotgun was operable and therefore dangerous, because the Utah Supreme Court had already held that a gun is a dangerous weapon, whether loaded or not.

B.

BECAUSE THE STATE WAS NOT REQUIRED TO PROVE THAT THE SHOTGUN WAS A DANGEROUS WEAPON, THE APPELLANT'S CONVICTION OF A SECOND DEGREE FELONY WAS CORRECT.

Because of the reasoning in Point II A. above, the appellant was properly convicted of "possession of a dangerous weapon while on parole for a felony," under Utah Code Ann., § 76-10-503(2) (1953), as amended, a second-degree felony. Utah Code Ann., § 76-3-203(2) (1953), as

amended, sets forth the term of imprisonment for a second-degree felony as follows:

Felony conviction--Indeterminate term of imprisonment--Increase of sentence if firearm used--A person who has been convicted of a felony may be sentenced to imprisonment for an indeterminate term as follows:

(2) In the case of a felony of the second degree, for a term at not less than one year nor more than 15 years but if the trier of fact finds a firearm or a facsimile or the representation of a firearm was used in the commission or furtherance of the felony, the court shall additionally sentence the person convicted for a term of one year to run consecutively and not concurrently; and the court may additionally sentence the person convicted for an indeterminate term not to exceed five years to run consecutively and not concurrently;

The appellant was sentenced to 1 to 15 years at the Utah State Prison in accordance with Utah Code Ann., § 76-3-203(2) (1953), as amended, and there was no error in imposing this sentence. This sentence should be upheld.

POINT III.

IF THE TRIAL COURT DID COMMIT ERR,
THE PROPER REMEDY SHOULD BE A RE-
TRIAL.

Utah Code Ann., § 76-1-501 (1953) as amended, provides:

(1) A defendant in a criminal proceeding is presumed to be innocent until each element of the offense charged against him is proved beyond a reasonable doubt. In absence of such proof, the defendant shall be acquitted.

Emphasis added.

The appellant contends that on the basis of this statute and Points I and II of his brief, the appellant should be acquitted. The respondent argues that even if this Court should find that the trial court erred, despite the arguments of Point I and II herein, the proper remedy is not acquittal, but a new trial. Respondent submits that the appellant again places too narrow of an interpretation upon the statute in question. Utah Code Ann., § 76-1-501 (1953), as amended, states, "In absence of such proof, the defendant shall be acquitted." In the present case, even if the trial court did err by allowing the alleged hearsay evidence, (Point I), to be entered into court, this issue can be remanded and proven by the very evidence the appellant alleged would have been proper at trial. There was no absence of proof at the trial court, but merely the use of proof to which the appellant objected.

In State v. Lawrence, 120 Utah 323, 234 P.2d 600 (Utah, 1951), the Utah Supreme Court said when speaking about the value of stolen property in a larceny case:

The major portion of the Attorney General's brief deals with the contention that if the failure to prove value requires a reversal of the case, the defendant is not entitled to go free, but only to a new trial. With this we agree. It is well settled that reversal of a conviction at the instance of the defendant, and subsequent remand of the case for new trial does not constitute the defendant twice in jeopardy to entitle

him to go free. 15 Am. Jur. 89,
Crim. Law, Sec. 427; People v.
Travers, 77 Cal. 176, 19 P. 268; People
v. Eppinger, 109 Cal. 294, 41 P. 1037;
People v. Stratton, 136 Cal.App. 201,
28 P.2d 695. And see Sec. 105-39-2,
U.C.A. 1943, and State v. Kessler, 15
Utah 142, 49 P. 293.

Appellant submits that this case is supplanted by Utah Code Ann., § 76-1-501 (1953), as amended, and thus the appellant should be acquitted. Respondent submits that appellant badly misconstrues both the statute and the ruling of Lawrence. The Lawrence case held that the remand of a case did not violate the constitutional guarantee of protection against double jeopardy. This issue is completely distinguishable from the absence of proof issue in Utah Code Ann., § 76-1-501 (1953), as amended. State v. Lawrence, was reaffirmed in 1971 by the Utah Supreme Court in State v. Jaramillo, 481 P.2d 394 (Utah, 1971), and is in accordance with the United States Supreme Court cases of North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 89 S.Ct. 2072, 2089, 23 L.Ed. 2d 656 (1969), and Chaffin v. Stynchcombe, 412 U.S. 17, 93 S.Ct. 1977, 36 L.Ed. 2d 714 (1973).

Utah Code Ann., § 77-42-3 and 77-42-4 (1953), as amended, make it clear that the Supreme Court has the power to order a new trial if it deems necessary. Utah Code Ann., § 77-1-501 (1953), as amended does not bind the Supreme Court

into acquitting the appellant because in this case there is sufficient evidence. Therefore, if this Court finds that there was error at the trial, the case should be remanded for retrial, but the appellant should not be acquitted.

CONCLUSION

The arguments raised by appellant in seeking to have his conviction for the offense of possession of a dangerous weapon while on parole for a felony, Utah Code Ann., § 76-10-503(2) (1953), as amended, are without merit.

The trial court found that the evidence relied upon to establish that the appellant was on parole for a felony was reliable and fell within the hearsay exceptions. The jury convicted the appellant of being in the possession of a dangerous weapon, i.e.: a sawed-off shotgun, and it was unnecessary for the State to prove that this sawed-off shotgun was capable of operation, loaded or not. Based upon the foregoing points and authorities, appellant's conviction was proper and should be affirmed.